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Summit Properties Limited 

2023 Full Year Audited Results 

 

Summit Properties Limited is pleased to announce its audited key performance indicators for the 

twelve months ended 31 December 2023: 

 

Results 

• Revaluation loss of €151.9 million (FY 2022: €94.2 million gain) 

• Net loss of €63.2 million (FY 2022: €125.8 million profit) 

• Gross profit of €99.1 million (FY 2022: €99.0 million) 

• Negative EBITDA of €62.6 million (FY 2022: €172.2 million)  

• Loss Before Tax of €87.4 million (FY 2022: €154.2 million profit)  

 

NAV 

• EPRA NAV of €1.0 billion (FY 2022: €1.2 billion)  

• Group’s NAV of €0.9 billion (FY 2022: €1.0 billion)  

• Total Assets of €1.9 billion (FY 2022: €2.1 billion) 

• Shareholder Equity / Total Assets ratio of 48% (FY 2022: 47%)  

 

Rent and Operations 

• Funds From Operations (FFO) amounted to €60.5 million (FY 2022: €67.1 million) 

• Rental income increased to €185.7 million (FY 2022: €168.6 million) 

 

Portfolio 

• €1.6 billion portfolio as of 31 December 2023 (FY 2022: €1.8 billion) includes: 

• €0.5 billion German properties well located in major cities with a net lettable area of ca. 

327,000 sqm and an occupancy rate, excluding properties under development of ca. 

93% 

• €1.1 billion US portfolio comprised of:  

▪ 90 residential buildings in NYC with net lettable area of 247,000 sqm 

▪ 28 commercial properties across the US  with net lettable area of 1.2 million sqm 

▪ Full ownership of two hotels with 514 rooms in Manhattan  

 

Financing and Dividend 

• $80.5 million of new secured debt facilities on five US properties: 

• $45.5 million obtained in 2023 at 15-year term and an average annual interest of 6.4% 

fixed for 5 years 

• $20.0 million obtained in 2023 at 10-year term and an average annual interest of 

7.125% fixed for 3 years 

• $15.0 million obtained in 2024 at 13-year term and an average annual interest of 7.75% 

fixed for 3 years 

• €30.0 million of secured debt facilities to refinance two German properties; 5-year term at 

a fixed interest of 4.69% p.a. and 2.25% annual amortization 

• €73.2 million buyback of the Company’s outstanding senior notes for an average of 91.5% 

of the notes’ principal amount 

• €32.2 million dividends reflecting 10.0 euro cents per share 
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Main Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The Group is exposed to risks arising from the sector and economic environment, in which it operates. The Group 
has identified the following risk factors: 
 
Macro-economic risk factors 
 

A. Risks arising from the countries in which the Group operates – inflation pressure in the local economies 
may lead to further increase in interest rates, which in turn might impact the cost of financing and the value 
of the Group’s properties. However, most of the Company's loans bear a fixed interest rate and therefore 
are not exposed to changes in the basic interest rate, except when refinancing of loans occurs. In addition, 
lease agreements with Group’s tenants are either linked to price index or include periodic increases in rent 
and the Group does not have material obligations which are linked to consumer price index. It is noted, 
that in the longer term, if the trend of increasing inflation together with increasing interest rates continues 
at its current level, it may adversely affect the tenants or customers and cause a decrease in demand and 
consequently impact the results of the company's activity and value of its assets. 
 

B. Risks arising from the countries in which the Group operates – recession in and deterioration of global 
economy and the German or US economy in particular, may cause a decrease in demand for lettable areas, 
increased vacancies and as such impact the value of the property. However, Group’s management believes 
that given the nature and geographical spread of its properties, as well as the diversity of its tenants, will 
enable the Group to execute its business strategy in the foreseeable future.  
 

C. Risks relating to changes in foreign exchange rates – the Group operates in Euro in the German market and 
in US Dollars in the US market. A rise in the US/EUR Dollar exchange rate will increase Company's capital, 
while a decline will decrease it. 

 
The Group is not able to assess the future effects (if any) of the above macro-economic conditions. However, the 
Group estimates that its financial strength, together with the balance of cash and cash flows from operating 
activities will continue to ensure the ongoing business activity of the Group while complying with all its obligations.  
 
 

Sectorial risk factors 
 

A. Availability and cost of financing in Germany and the US – a decline in availability of financing sources and 
a rise in financing costs exposes the Group to an increase in finance expenses. The Group strive on an 
ongoing basis to extend the loans ahead of their maturity and also maintains a variety of financing channels. 
 

B. Financial covenants compliance - banking facilities include various covenant requirements. A failure to meet 
loan covenants could result in possible default or penalties. The Group regularly monitors compliance with 
covenants and addresses any issue that may arise. 
 

C. Residential rent control – the Group’s US residential properties are subject to regulations, which hold the 
Group, as property owner, liable to it and include, among other, the control over the level of rent 
chargeable in the properties. Such regulation exposes the Group to impacts of regulatory changes related 
to rent control and the liability of the property owner towards its tenants. 

 
D. Leasing to anchor tenants – leasing to anchor tenants strengthens the performance of a commercial 

property and creates stability of cash flows. However, if several anchor tenants were to vacate the US 
commercial centres, a negative impact may occur on income and value of such properties. The diversified 
nature of asset types in the Group’s property portfolio, as well as its geographical spread and diversity of 
tenants, decreases the related impact on the overall Group’s results and financial strength.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Shareholders of Summit Properties Limited 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Summit Properties Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
 
 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

 
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co. 
Certified Public Accountants 
A Firm in the Deloitte Global Network 
Haifa, 15 April, 2024  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 
 
    

 

As of 31 December     2023  2022 

  Note  Euro (in thousands) 

 
ASSETS 

    
  

       
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:       

Investment properties  5  1,570,122  1,759,847 
Other long-term assets  6  17,276  20,860 

Properties for development  21  5,329  20,701 

Total non-current assets    1,592,727  1,801,408 

       
       
CURRENT ASSETS:       

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  9  24,941  25,552 

Receivables from related parties  13  11,005  24,531 
Trade receivables, net  8  8,682  4,686 
Inventory of buildings under construction  21  25,562  - 

Cash and cash equivalents   10  268,665  278,759 

Total current assets    338,855  333,528 

 

 

 
  

 

 

Total assets    1,931,582  2,134,936 

       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 
 
As of 31 December     2023  2022 

  Note  Euro (in thousands) 
 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
 

   
       
EQUITY:  11     

Share capital       
Other reserve    162,691   182,885 

Retained earnings    755,500   830,061 

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company    918,191   1,012,946 

Non-controlling interests    129,902   158,751 

Total equity    1,048,093   1,171,697 

       
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:       

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  7  700,781   752,319 
Other long-term financial liabilities  6  10,639   9,530 

Deferred tax liability  17  116,325   141,961 

Total non-current liabilities    827,745   903,810 

       
CURRENT LIABILITIES:       

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings   7  22,589   8,677 
Payables to related parties  13  1,623   2,619 
Current tax liabilities    495   607 

Trade and other payables  14  31,037   47,526 

Total current liabilities    55,744   59,429 
       

Total liabilities    883,489   963,239 
       

Total equity and liabilities     1,931,582   2,134,936 

      

  NAV/Share (cent) 11  285.40   314.85 

  EPRA NAV/Share (cent) 11  321.56   358.98 

      
 
 
 
 

April 15, 2024     

Date of approval of the  Zohar Levy  Itay Barlev  
financial statements  Managing Director  Finance Director 

 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 
 
For The Year ended 31 December     2023  2022 
  Note  Euro (in thousands) 

      
Rental income    185,733   168,647  
Revenues from sale of apartments   5,161   3,540  
Operating expenses   (87,831)  (70,275) 
Cost of sale of apartments   (3,934)  (2,893) 

      

Gross profit   99,129   99,019  
      

General and administrative expenses 15  (8,111)  (8,831) 
Fair value adjustments of investment properties 5  (151,910)  94,207  
Other expenses   (1,481)  (12,373) 
      

Operating profit (loss)   (62,373)  172,022  
      
Financial income 16  11,600  11,456  
Financial expenses 16  (36,599)  (29,337) 
Total financial expenses   (24,999)  (17,881) 

      

Profit (loss) before taxes on income   (87,372)  154,141  
Tax income (expenses) 17  24,174   (28,354) 
Profit (loss) for the year   (63,198)  125,787  

      
Other comprehensive income and expenses:      
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:      
Foreign exchange differences on translation of foreign operations    (22,690)  24,417  
   (22,690)  24,417  
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:      
Net loss arising on revaluation of financial assets through Other 

Comprehensive Income ("OCI")  
 

(1,248)  (119) 
   (23,938)  24,298  
      

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year   (87,136)  150,085  

      
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:      

Owners of the Company    (42,390)  80,100  
Non-controlling interests   (20,808)  45,687  

   (63,198)  125,787  
      

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:      
Owners of the Company   (62,573)  101,668  
Non-controlling interests   (24,563)  48,417  

   (87,136)  150,085  

Earnings (loss) Per Share:      

  Basic (Euro per share) 12  (0.132)  0.249  

  Diluted (Euro per share)   (0.132)  0.249  

      
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 
Summit Properties Ltd. Annual Report:  31 December 2023 

7 / Page 



 

 

SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
 

 

Issued 
capital 

(note 11) 

Other 
Reserves 
(note 11) 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners of 
the parent 
Company 

Non-
Controlling 

interests Total equity 

 Euro (in thousands) 
       

Balance at 1 January 2022 (*) -  161,317  749,961  911,278  106,847   1,018,125  
       
Profit for the year -  -  80,100  80,100  45,687  125,787  
Other comprehensive profit for the year, 
net of income tax - 21,568  - 21,568  2,730  24,298  

Total comprehensive profit  (*) - 21,568  80,100  101,668  48,417  150,085  
       

Transaction with non-controlling interests 
(note 11E)  - -  -  -  3,487  3,487  

       

Balance at 31 December 2022 (*) - 182,885  830,061  1,012,946  158,751  1,171,697  
       
Loss for the year - -  (42,390) (42,390) (20,808) (63,198) 
Other comprehensive loss for the year, 
net of income tax - (20,183) -  (20,183) (3,755) (23,938) 

Total comprehensive loss (*) - (20,183) (42,390) (62,573) (24,563) (87,136) 
Dividend distribution (note 11B)  - (32,171) (32,171) - (32,171) 
Buy back  (11) -  (11) - (11) 
Transaction with non-controlling interests 
(note 11D)  - - - - (4,286) (4,286) 

       
Balance at 31 December 2023 (*) - 162,691  755,500  918,191  129,902 1,048,093  

       
 
 
(*) No par value. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 
 
For The Year ended 31 December   2023  2022 
  Euro (in thousands) 

     

Cash flows from operating activities:     
Profit (loss) for the year  (63,198)  125,787  
Adjustments for:      

Taxes  (23,756)  27,036  
Financial income, net  24,999   17,881  
Fair value adjustment of investment properties  151,910   (94,207) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  202   204  
Other long-term Assets  729   (545) 

  154,084   (49,631) 
     
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Increase in trade receivables and contract assets  (2,842)  (1,281) 
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables  (15,341)  724  
Increase (decrease) in payables to related parties and shareholders  (980)  788  
Increase in properties for development and Inventory of buildings under 

construction  (9,902)  (7,198) 
Increase (decrease) in prepaid expenses and other current assets  (1,084)  (1,790) 
Increase (decrease) in other non-current liabilities  1,313   (296) 

  (28,836)  (9,053) 
     

Net cash flows from operating activities  62,050   67,103  
     
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities:     

Additions of intangible assets  (262)  (318) 
Payments in respect to acquisition of investment properties and related assets and 

liabilities   (11,827)  (222,871) 
Change in loan to related parties  (15,102)  15,000  
Change in deposits and designated cash  (140)  1,824  
Change in loans to third party  389   (1,857) 
Additions to investment properties  (19,014)  (13,621) 
Interest income and proceeds from financial participations  3,463   4,845  
Proceeds from sale of investment property  46,150   41,465  

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities  3,657   (175,533) 

     
Cash flows used in financing activities:     

Proceeds from borrowings from banks  70,871   72,517  
Repayment of borrowings  (38,605)  (40,344) 
Interest paid  (31,282)  (24,146) 
Repayment of third parties loans  -   (197) 
Buy back of bonds  (68,032)  (35,660) 
Proceeds form issue of shares and buy back  (11)  -  
Dividend distribution  (229)  -  
Transaction with non-controlling interest  (7,060)  (3,848) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (74,348)  (31,678) 
     
 

    
Effect of change in exchange rates on cash balances hold in foreign currency  (1,453)  8,681  
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (10,094)  (131,427) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  278,759   410,186  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  268,665   278,759  
     

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 1: GENERAL 

 
Summit Properties Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together: the “Group”) is a property 
specialist company. The Company was incorporated and registered in Guernsey on 19 April, 2006 and 
its principal place of business is at 1st and 2nd Floors, Elizabeth House, Les Ruettes Brayes, St. Peter 
Port, Guernsey, GY1 1EW.  The parent company of the Group is Summit Real Estate Holdings Ltd 
(hereinafter: “SHL”), a company registered in Israel. 
 
The Group owns, enhances and operates commercial real estate assets in Germany including office 
buildings, logistic centres and others, which are leased to numerous commercial and industrial tenants. 
The US portfolio comprises commercial properties throughout the US leased to numerous tenants and 
multi‐tenant residential properties in New York City. 
 
The Group invests primarily in such properties that provide substantial income flows and potential for 
value increase through asset management. 
 
 

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of accounting  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards). The financial statements have also been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards adopted by the European Union and therefore the 
Group financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the 
revaluation of certain properties and certain financial instruments that are measured at revalued 
amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 
goods and services. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Going concern 
 
The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial 
statements. 
 
Basis of consolidation: 
 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is 
achieved when the Company: 

• Has the power over the investee  

• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

• Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns 
 
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss and from the date the Company gains control 
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has 
power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct 
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to 
give it power, including: 

• The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of 
holdings of the other vote holders 

• Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

• Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not 
have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to 
be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings 

 
 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 
accounting policies used into line with the Group’s accounting policies.  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Basis of consolidation (Cont.): 
 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. 
Those interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their 
holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value 
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-
controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount 
of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.  
 
In cases where the company has contractual arrangements that include "waterfall" mechanisms for 
profit sharing, i.e. the profit distribution rate is carried out according to different rates from the rate 
of holding of equity rights (Members) in the subsidiaries, the company implements the "hypothetical 
liquidation at book value" method. In accordance with this method, the share of the company and the 
non-controlling interests over the results of the subsidiary are determined on the assumption that at 
the end of the reporting period, the subsidiary would have sold or divided its assets and repaid its 
liabilities according to their book value taking into account further distributions and investments made 
by the other equity rights holders. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.  
 
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests 
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the 
Company. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Revenue recognition: 
 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a 
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group 
recognizes revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 
Rental income (The Group as lessor): 

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to its investment properties. Such 
leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease.  
 
Municipal charges that the Group collects from the tenants and transfers to the local authorities are 
presented on a net basis in the financial statements, since these amounts are paid by the lessee for a 
service provided by the local authorities and without the Group being involved in any way in providing 
the service. Utility charges are recognized on a net basis since the Group is not primarily responsible 
for providing these services and the services are provided to the tenants without any material 
involvement of the Group. 
 
Revenues from the sale of apartments: 

The Group constructs and sells residential properties under long-term contracts with customers. Such 
contracts are entered into before construction of the residential properties begins. Under the terms of 
the contracts, the Group is contractually restricted from redirecting the properties to another customer 
and has an enforceable right to payment for work done. Revenue from construction of residential 
properties is therefore recognised over time on a cost-to-cost method, i.e. based on the proportion of 
contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs. The 
Group considers that this method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards completion of 
these performance obligations under IFRS 15. 
 
The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for construction of residential properties based on 
achieving a series of performance-related milestones. When a particular milestone is reached the 
customer is sent an invoice for the related milestone payment. The Group will previously have 
recognised a contract asset for any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a contract 
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the customer. If the 
milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost method then the 
Group recognises a contract liability for the difference. There is not considered to be a significant 
financing component in construction contracts with customers as the period between the recognition 
of revenue under the cost-to-cost method and the milestone payment is always less than one year. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Foreign currencies:  
 

In preparing the financial statements of the Group entities, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s functional currency, which is Euro, are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 
 
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
 
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income 
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions 
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in a foreign exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as 
appropriate). 
 
On the disposal of a foreign operation or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that 
includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign exchange 
translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the parent company are 
reclassified to profit or loss. When a subsidiary of the Company (hereinafter: the "Holding Company"), 
whose functional currency is different from the functional currency of the Company, holds a number 
of companies whose functional currency is identical to the functional currency of the Holding Company 
(hereinafter: the "Held Subsidiaries”), the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign exchange 
translation reserve in respect of these companies (including in respect of loans that are part of the net 
investment in the companies) are reclassified to profit or loss upon the disposal of all the Held 
Subsidiaries. 
 
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does 
not result in the group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated 
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or 
loss. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Taxation: 
 

The income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 
Current Taxes: 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit 
as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period. 
A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is 
considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are 
measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based 
on the judgement of tax professionals within the Company supported by previous experience in respect 
of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice. 
 
Deferred tax: 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments 
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties 
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed 
to be recovered entirely through sale.  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Taxation (Cont.) 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

Current tax and deferred tax for the year: 

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred 
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current 
tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is 
included in the accounting for the business combination. 
 
Financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables 
that do not have a significant financing component which are measured at transaction price. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) 
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or 
loss. 
 
Financial assets 
 
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), unless they don`t meet the criteria 
required for the measurement at amortised cost of FVTOCI then they are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.  
 
In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI. 
Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.  
 
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair 
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship (see hedge accounting policy). The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Financial instruments (Cont.) 
 
Financial assets (Cont.) 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at amortised cost - trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of expected 
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition 
of the respective financial instrument.  
 
The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables and contract assets. 
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated based on the Group’s historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment. This is further enhanced with specific provisions where this is deemed appropriate by 
management. 
 
For other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that 
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.  
 
Derecognition of financial assets  
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss. On derecognition of an investment in an equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained 
earnings. 
 
Financial liabilities and equity 
 
Classification as debt or equity 
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument . 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Financial instruments (Cont.) 
 
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont.) 
 
Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. 
 
Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. 
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the 
Company’s own equity instruments. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
 

All of the Group financial liabilities are presented and measured at amortised cost. 
 

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less transaction costs. After initial recognition, 
these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the 
substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for 
substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially 
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees 
paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate is at least 10 per 
cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial 
liability. If the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the 
liability before the modification; and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification should 
be recognised in profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
Investment properties 
 
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes), is measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss in the period 
in which they arise. 
 
An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in 
which the property is derecognised. 
 
Inventory of buildings under construction and properties for development  
 
Inventory of buildings under construction and properties for development are measured at the lower 
of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less estimated costs of completion and the estimated selling costs.  
Cost of inventories of apartments under construction and inventories of real estate comprises 
identifiable direct costs of land such as taxes, fees and duties and construction costs.  
 
Impairment of assets 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group 
estimates the asset's recoverable amount.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
In the statement of financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and 
demand deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with original 
maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are 
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather for investment or other 
purposes.  
 
Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third party contractual restrictions are included 
as part of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the definition of cash. 
Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 10. If the contractual 
restrictions to use the cash extend beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the related 
amounts are classified as non-current in the statement of financial position.  
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term 
borrowings in the statement of financial position. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time 
value of money is material). 
  
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 3: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

 
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 above, management is 
required to make judgements that have a significant impact on the amounts recognized and to make 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.  
 

• Valuation of investment properties 
 

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair values being 
recognised in the profit or loss. The Group engages independent valuation specialists to determine 
fair value of investment properties at least on an annual basis. The valuation technique used to 
determine fair value of investment properties is based on a discounted cash flow model as well as 
comparable market data. 
 
The determined fair value of the investment properties is sensitive to the estimated yield as well 
as market rents and the long-term vacancy rate. The key assumptions used to determine the fair 
value of the investment properties are further explained in Note 5. 
 

• Taxation 
 

Uncertainties might exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in 
tax laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the Group's international 
business relationships and the nature of contractual agreements, differences arising between the 
actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could 
necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded.  
 
Deferred taxes 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits (See also Note 17). 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 3: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont.) 

 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont.):  
 
Critical accounting judgements:  
The following are the critical judgements that the management has made in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in financial statements. 
 

• Business combination or acquisition of assets 
The Group acquires subsidiaries that hold real estate assets. At the time of acquisition, the Group 
exercises discretion in examining whether it is a business combination or acquisition of assets, 
in order to determine the accounting treatment of the transaction. In examining whether a 
Property company constitutes a business, the Company examines, inter alia, the nature of the 
existing processes in the acquired Property company, including the scope and nature of 
management, security, cleaning and maintenance services provided to tenants. In transactions 
in which the acquired company is a business, the transaction is treated as a business 
combination. On the other hand, in transactions in which the acquired company is not a 
business, the acquisition cost, including the transaction costs, are allocated proportionally to the 
identified assets and liabilities purchased, based on their relative fair value at the time of 
acquisition. In this case, neither goodwill nor deferred taxes are recognised for the temporary 
difference existing at the time of purchase. The Group may choose to apply the concentration 
test to determine whether the acquisition constitutes a business combination or not. According 
to this test, if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a 
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, then the acquisition will not be 
treated as a business combination. If the test is not met (or Group has chosen not to implement 
it) - the regular test will be conducted as to whether it is a business as detailed above. 
 

NOTE 4: ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an 
accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2023. Their adoption has not had any material 
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements. 
 
Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Polices, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors—Definition of 
Accounting Estimates 

  

 The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting 
estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in financial 
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. The definition of a change in accounting 
estimates was deleted. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 4: ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (Cont.): 

 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making 
Materiality Judgements—Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

The group has adopted the amendments to IAS 1 for the first time in the current year. The amendments 
change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments 
replace all instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy 
information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other 
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence 
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those 
financial statements. 

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy information that 
relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is immaterial and need not be disclosed. 
Accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other 
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy 
information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.  

The IASB has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the 
‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction 

The group has adopted the amendments to IAS 12 for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the 
amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for transactions that give rise 
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Depending on the applicable tax law, equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting profit nor taxable 
profit. Following the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related deferred tax 
asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability 
criteria in IAS 12. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 4: ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS: (Cont.) 
 

 New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the group has not applied the following new 
and revised IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements—Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current  

 
 The amendments to IAS 1 published in January 2020 affect only the presentation of liabilities as current 

or noncurrent in the statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition of 
any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items. The 
amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights that 
are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected by 
expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain 
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and 
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the 
counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services. The amendments are applied 
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application 
permitted. The IASB has aligned the effective date with the 2022 amendments to IAS 1. If an entity 
applies the 2020 amendments for an earlier period, it is also required to apply the 2022 amendments 
early. The directors of the parent company anticipate that the application of these amendments may 
have an impact on the group's consolidated financial statements in future periods. 

 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements—Non-current Liabilities with Covenants  

 

The amendments specify that only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before the 
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting date (and therefore must be considered in assessing the classification of 
the liability as current or noncurrent). Such covenants affect whether the right exists at the end of the 
reporting period, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed only after the reporting date (e.g. 
a covenant based on the entity’s financial position at the reporting date that is assessed for compliance 
only after the reporting date). The IASB also specifies that the right to defer settlement of a liability for 
at least twelve months after the reporting date is not affected if an entity only has to comply with a 
covenant after the reporting period. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is 
subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period, an 
entity discloses information that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk of the 
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting period. This would include 
information about the covenants (including the nature of the covenants and when the entity is 
required to comply with them), the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, 
if any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants. The 
amendments are applied retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2024. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. If an entity applies the amendments for an 
earlier period, it is also required to apply the 2020 amendments early. The directors of the parent 
company anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the group's 
consolidated financial statements in future periods. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 5: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 

A. Changes in years 2022 and 2023 

  
Euro  

in thousands 
   

Balance at 1 January 2022  1,236,791  
   
Additions during the year (C)  435,961  
Disposals during the year (D)  (41,465) 
Foreign currency translation reserve   34, 353  
Fair value adjustments during the year   94,207  

Balance at 31 December 2022   1,759,847  

   
Additions during the year (C)  54,304  
Disposals during the year (D)  (46,150) 
Foreign currency translation reserve   (42,039) 
Fair value adjustments during the year   (151,910) 
Other   (3,930) 

Balance at 31 December 2023   1,570,122  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 

NOTE 5: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont). 
 

B. Fair value measurement of investment properties (Level 3 classification) 
 

1. The fair value of investment property is determined at least once a year or when indications 
of value changes arise, based on a valuation performed by independent reputable experts. 
 

The valuation is performed using the income capitalisation method, which is a valuation 
model based on the present value of expected Net Operating Income per property. Real 
estate valuations are based on the net annual cash flows after capitalisation on discounted 
rates that reflect the specific risks inherent in property activity. 
 

The valuations consider the profile of the tenants, which are legally committed to lease 
agreements, and the remaining economic life of the asset.  
The market rents used in the valuation vary per location, uses and condition of the property, 
age and level of finishing of various assets, even in the same building. 
The average rent of the investment properties in respect of office spaces can range from €6-
29 per month per square meter (2022: €6-23); for retail properties, between €3-99 per 
month per square meter (2022: €4-90); for logistics properties between €3-18 per month per 
square meter (2022: €2-15); for residential properties between €9-35 per month per square 
meter (2022: €10-34). In Germany discount rates range between 4.5%-8.8% in Germany 
(2022:3.8%-8.8%). In the US, discount rates range between 4.8%-6.0% for the residential 
assets (2022: 4.5%-5.8%) and 12%-17% for the commercial centers (2022:13%-17%). 
 

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and the best use of the properties 
is their current use. 
A number of factors contribute to the value of retail properties, such as national and local 
economic development, investment demand created by property investors, and interest 
rates. 
 

While changes in the fair value of investment properties have an effect on the Group's profit 
for the financial year, they do not have an immediate impact on cash flow. 
 

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the entity’s 
investment properties are rents achieved at market (when these increase, an increase in 
properties value may occur) and discount rates (when these increase, a decrease in 
properties value may occur). Significant increases (decreases) in any of those inputs in 
isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value measurement. Sensitivity to 
change in the properties' fair value, or the risk associated with fair value, can be tested by 
altering the above key parameters. Furthermore, the effect of the change in each parameter 
is not necessarily similar – as such, changes in the rents and discount rates might have a more 
significant effect on the properties' value than similar change of the occupancy rates. In 
addition, it is noted that changes in different parameters might occur simultaneously. For 
example, a change in occupancy may connect to a change in market rents when they impact 
fair value simultaneously.  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 5: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont.) 
 

B. Fair value measurement of investment properties (level 3 classification) (Cont.) 
 

2. Supplemental information  
 

Lettable area 
 As 31 December 2023 As 31 December 2022 

 Offices Logistic Retail Residential Other Total Offices Logistic Retail Residential Other Total 

 Sqm Sqm 

             
 159,129 148,369 1,212,867 247,342 27,825  1,795,532 161,247 148,475 1,250,071 247,344 27,827 1,834,964 

             

Percent of total 
assets 

9% 8% 68% 13% 2% 100% 9% 8% 68% 13% 2% 100% 

 
Fair value – analysis by use 

 As 31 December 2023 As 31 December 2022 

 Offices (*) Logistic Retail Residential Other Total Offices (*) Logistic Retail Residential Other Total 

 Euro in thousands Euro in thousands 

             

 262,372 155,241 649,633 482,985 19,891 1,570,1
22 

320,400 166,330 738,092 514,395 20,630 1,759,846 

             

Percent of  
  total assets 

17% 10% 41% 31% 1% 100% 18% 9% 42% 29% 1% 100% 

 
(*) Including fair value of associated building rights. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 

NOTE 5: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont.) 
 

B. Fair value measurement of investment properties in Level 3 (Cont.) 
 
2. Supplemental information (Cont.) 

NOI – analysis by use 
 As 31 December 2023 As 31 December 2022 

 Offices Logistic Retail Residential Other Total Offices Logistic Retail Residential Other Total 

 Euro in thousands Euro in thousands 
             

 8,059 7,455 75960,  21,629 - 97,902 7,963 7,436 59,429 23,643 (99) 98,372 
             

Percent of total 
assets 

%8  8% %62  22% - 100% 8% 8% 60% 24% 0% 100% 

 
Adjustment to fair value – analysis by use 

 

 As 31 December 2023 As 31 December 2023 

 Offices Logistic Retail Residential Total Offices Logistic Retail Residential Total 

 Euro in thousands Euro in thousands 
           

 (69,074) (12,589) (51,567) (18,680) (151,910) (34,922) (3,606) 117,737 14,998 94,206 
           

Percent of total assets 46% 8% 34% 12% 100% (37) % (4) % 125% 16% 100% 
 

Average rent  
 Offices Logistic Retail Residential 

 As 31 December  

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 
         

€/sqm/month 10.1 9.4 5.4 5.2 8.4 9 17.9 17.9 
         

Range € (6.4-29.3) (6.3 - 23.2) (2.7-17.9) (2.2 - 15) (3.5-99.5) (4.3 – 9.1) (9.6-35.5) (9.7-34.2) 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 5: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont.) 
 
C. Additions 
  
1) Additions in USA during the period 

  
a. Acquisitions of residential properties: 
 

During 2021, a subsidiary of the Company reached an agreement with a partner in the US 
specializing in the acquisition, management and maintenance of residential buildings in 
New York City (the “Local Partner”) for acquisition of residential properties for rent in New 
York City. According to the agreement, property acquisitions are carried out through special 
purpose companies, which are controlled by the Company, while the local partner is 
responsible for the ongoing operation of the properties and the special purpose companies. 
The Company will fund 85% -95% of the capital required for each transaction, and the local 
partner will fund the remaining 5% -15% of required capital. The available cash flow of the 
asset companies will be distributed between the parties in proportion to their capital 
investment until returns of each partner's capital investment plus minimal agreed IRR 
beyond which the local partner shall be entitled to success fees as customary in similar 
transactions. 
 

During the years 2021 and  2022, transactions were completed for the purchase of housing 
units for rent in New York for approximately $400 million and $110 million, respectively. 
The acquisitions were financed from the company's own resources and bank financing. 
There were no acquisitions during the year 2023. 
As of the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company holds 90 residential 
properties across New York that include approximately 3,000 housing units for rent with a 
total lettable area of approximately 250 thousand square meters. 

 

Total bank financing related to the above transactions amounted to approximately $364 
million at an average fixed annual interest rate of approximately 3%, without principal 
repayments in the first three years.  

 
b. Acquisition of commercial properties  

 
1. During 2021, a subsidiary of the Company entered the transaction through a US 

subsidiary under its control (the "US Subsidiary"), which is held together with a local asset 
manager, who is not affiliated with the company and / or its controlling shareholders (the 
"local manager"). Under the agreement with the local manager, he is responsible for the 
day-to-day operation of the properties and will work to locate investments in similar real 
estate properties (see also note 11).  
Throughout 2022, 15 commercial properties were acquired, in a format similar to that 
described above, for a total consideration of approximately $330 million. The properties 
include lettable area of approximately 680 thousand sqm and the expected Net 
Operating Income (“NOI”), based on existing net contracts, amounts to approximately 
$53 million. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 5: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont.): 

 
C.  Additions (Cont.): 

 

1) Additions in USA during the period (Cont.) 
 
b. Acquisitions of commercial properties (Cont.): 

 
2. During 2023 one commercial property was acquired for a total consideration of 

approximately $34 million. The said property includes lettable area of approximately 
46 thousand sqm. At the time of acquisition, the average occupancy rate of the assets 
was approximately 88% and the expected Net Operating Income (“NOI”), based on 
existing net contracts, amounts to approximately $5.8 million. 
 
To finance the acquisition, the Group obtained a $20 million loan on a 10-year term, 
bearing an annual interest rate of 7.1% p.a. fixed for the first 3 years of the loan and 
6.88% annual amortisation.   
 

3. As of the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company holds 28 
commercial properties across the United States, with a total lettable area of 
approximately 1.2 million square meters over sqm 5.8 million of land and expected 
annual income from them, based on existing contracts, net of operating expenses 
ca. $60 million.  

 
c. Acquisitions of Hotels: 

 
During 2021, a subsidiary of the Company in an agreement with a local partner acquired 
the lease rights in two hotels that include 514 rooms in central locations in Manhattan, 
New York. The hotels in an area of about 27 thousand square meters are built on leased 
land for a period of 25-90 years. During 2022 and 2023 the subsidiary acquired full 
ownership of the two hotels.  

 

d. Following is a list of assets and liabilities acquired during the reporting period (in 
connection with the above acquisitions):  

Euro 
in thousands 

Consideration   (11,827) 
  
Investment properties 31,445  
Other tangible assets 3  
Other assets 784  
Interest bearing loans and borrowings (18,125) 
Other liabilities (687) 

Total assets, Net 13,420  

  
Attributable to equity holders of the Company 11,827  
  

Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,593  
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 5: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont.): 
 

D.  Disposals: 
 

 During 2023, certain subsidiaries of the company sold a shopping center and US outparcels 
in amount of $53 million. The total annual NOI generated by the sold properties was 
approximately $3 million. Approximately $29 million of the proceeds were used to repay 
the financial liabilities associated with the sold properties. 

          
         After the end of the reporting period additional outparcels in the amount of approximately 

$1.4 million were sold. 
 
NOTE 6: OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

  31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 
Other long-term financial assets:     
Financial assets measured at fair value through OCI (1)  2,100   3,495  
Long-term loans receivable measured at amortised costs (2)  3,086    4,504  
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (3)  7,572    8,346  
Other financial assets  2,391    1,480  

Total long term financial assets  15,149  17,825  

     
     

Other long-term non-financial assets  2,127  3,036  

     
Other long-term financial liabilities:     

Other financial liabilities (4)  10,639  9,530  

 
(1) Financial assets – through OCI: 

This represents investments in ordinary shares of several real estate companies. Group 
interests in these companies were not accounted for using the equity method because of lack 
of significant influence (the Group has neither voting rights, nor representation in the 
management of these companies). The fair value of the investments at the end of the reporting 
period is based on the market values of the respective companies' investments in real estate.  

 
(2) Long-term loans receivable including loans to third parties.  

 
(3) The Group is engaged in agreements to provide financing to several residential construction 

projects in Berlin. The projects are for construction of residential units and are at different 
stages of planning and construction. The loans are secured by liens and guarantees of the 
construction companies and their shareholders, and will be payable from the projects' 
proceeds. As of the end of the reporting period, the fair value of the loans is €9.1 million, out 
of which, €1.5 million included in short term assets. 

 
(4) As of 31 December 2023, the balance is mainly due to the impact of adopting IFRS 16 (€1.5 

million) starting from 1 January 2019, whereby a right of use assets has been recognized for 
the Group’s leased office premises, and due to Tenant Security Deposit (€5.5 million). 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 7: INTEREST - BEARING LOANS AND BORROWING 

 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (net of cost of raising loans): 

       31 December 
 

 
Effective 

interest rate 
 

Maturity 
 

2023 
 

2022 
  %    Euro in thousands 

Current:         
Current maturities of long-term loans   1.75-14  2024  22,589   8,677 
         

Non-current:         
Long term loans and borrowings   1.75-14  2025-2033  700,781   752,319 

 
A. The outstanding costs of raising loans as of 31 December 2023 are €6.5 million (2022: €8.3 

million). These are presented net of interest-bearing loans and borrowings and amortised 
over the period of the loans. 

 

B. Throughout 2022, the Company obtained debt facilities secured by US properties. €53.6 
million were received on a 30-year term at an average annual interest of 3.4% fixed for 7 
years; €89.1 million were received on a 10-15-year term at an annual interest rate of 3.0%-
5.75% fixed for an average period of 5 years. Additional €41.8 million were obtained at an 
average annual interest rate of 6.4% in 2023. In addition, to finance certain property 
acquisitions during the year, the Company obtained €84.5 million of bridge loans at an annual 
variable interest rate of 11%-14%.  

 

        Throughout 2023, the Company obtained debt facilities secured by commercial properties in 
the United States. $45.5 million were received for a period of 15 years, at an interest rate of 
approximately 6.4% fixed for the first five years of the loan`s period; $20 million were 
received for a period of 10 years, at an interest rate of approximately 7.125% fixed for the 
first 3 years of the loan`s period; Additional $15 million were received for a period of 13 years, 
at an interest rate of approximately 7.75% fixed for the first 3 years of the loan`s period;€30.0 
million of secured debt facilities obtained in reporting period to refinance two German 
properties; 5-year term at a fixed interest of 4.69% p.a. and 2.25% annual amortization 

        $15 million obtained in Q1 2024 to refinance a US property at 13-year term and an average 
annual interest of 7.75% fixed for 3 years. 

 

C.   Loan in amount of approximately $29 million was repaid using the proceeds from sale of 
outparcels as mentioned in note 5d. 

 

D. During 2023, the company acquired approximately €73.2 million of senior fixed rate notes 
issued by the Company for approximately €67 million. The balance of the senior fixed rate 
notes issued, as of 31 December 2023, is approximately €188 million. In 2024 additional notes 
in the amount of approximately €6.7 million were acquired. 

 

E. Some of the financing agreements include a Debt Service Cover Ratio (DSCR) covenant of 
100%-125% or a Debt Yield covenant of 14%-18%.  

 
As of 31 December 2023, and to the date of this report, the borrowing entities comply with all the 
covenants set in their financing agreements. It is noted that, certain debt facilities are secured by real 
estate properties of the Group. The fair value of the unsecured real estate properties as of 31 
December 2023 amounts to approximately €630 million. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 8: TRADE RECEIVABLES  
 

  31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 

     
Trade receivables   24,115   17,486  
Trade receivables from sale of apartments  55  101  
Provision for doubtful debts  (15,488)  (12,901) 

  8,682   4,686  

 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally 30-90 day terms.  

 
Movements in the provision for doubtful debts: 

  
Euro in 

thousands 

   
At 1 January 2022  8,031  
Utilised  6,140  
Released   (1,270) 
At 31 December 2022  12,901  
Utilised  2,647  
Released   (60) 

At 31 December 2023  15,488  

   
 
NOTE 9: PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS  
 

  31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 

     
Prepaid expenses and other   16,284   16,834 
Designated cash   8,657   8,718 

  24,941   25,552 

 
NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 

  31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 
     

Cash at banks   268,665   278,759 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 11: EQUITY 

 
A. Share capital: 

 
The authorised share capital of the Group is represented by an unlimited number of ordinary 
shares with no par value:  

 

 
 Issued and 

outstanding 

 
 Number of 

shares 

   

At 1 January 2022  321,722,372  

Change in the period (note 11D)  -  

At 31 December 2022  321,722,372  

Change in the period   (7,777) 

At 31 December 2023  321,714,595  

 
B. Other reserves: 

 
The directors have elected to transfer all premiums arising from the issue of ordinary shares by 
the Company to a distributable reserve, the balance of which as of 31 December 2023 is €151.2 
million (as of 31 December 2022 – €151.2 million). This balance is included in other reserves.  
In accordance with the Companies (Guernsey) law, 2008, any distribution is subject to a 
solvency test to determine whether the Company is able to distribute funds to shareholders. 
 
The rest of the balance relates to foreign exchange difference on translation of foreign 
operations.  
 

C. NAV and EPRA NAV: 
 As of 31 December 2023 As of 31 December 2022 

 €, 
thousands 

€, per 
share 

€, 
thousands 

€, per 
share 

     
NAV (*) 918,191  2.85 1,012,946 3.15 
Financial derivatives  -   -  
Deferred Tax, net  116,325   141,961  
EPRA NAV (**) 1,034,516  3.22 1,154,907 3.59 

 
(*) Net Asset Value 
(**) EPRA NAV is calculated based on the NAV excluding the effect of deferred taxes and the 

value of hedging instruments. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 11: EQUITY  
 
D. Non-controlling interests: 

 
The Group’s investment properties in the US are held by a subsidiary of the Company that 
entered into several transactions through a US subsidiary under its control (the “US Subsidiary”). 
The US Subsidiary is held together with local asset managers, who are not affiliated with the 
company and / or its controlling shareholders (the "local managers"). In respect of the US 
residential properties see note 5. In respect of the US commercial properties, the company will 
provide approximately 90% of the equity required for the transactions, and the local manager 
will provide approximately 10% of the required equity. The positive cash flow of the property 
companies will be divided between the parties according to the equity investment ratio until the 
return on investment plus 12% per annum. Thereafter, all the surplus of the property companies 
will be distributed in such a way that 50% of the surplus will be distributed among the 
shareholders in the US Subsidiary while 50% will be paid as success fees to the local manager 
related entity, until the US Subsidiary shareholders enjoy an IRR of 20% on their investment. Any 
excess surplus will be divided in such a way as to ensure that the total cumulative divisions from 
the property companies will be divided equally between a party related to the local manager 
and the shareholders in the US Subsidiary. The US Subsidiary has an option to purchase about 
42% of the holdings of the local manager. 
Based on the above, the profit distribution rate is carried out according to rates that differ from 
the rates of holding of equity rights in the subsidiaries. The share of the company and the non-
controlling interests over the results of the subsidiary are determined on the assumption that at 
the end of the reporting period, the subsidiary would have sold or divided its assets and repaid 
its liabilities according to their book value taking into account further distributions and 
investments made by the other equity rights holders. 

 
During the period, a subsidiary of the Company acquired the minority holdings in one of the 
Company’s NYC hotels. 
 

 
E. Dividend: 

 

During 2023, the Company distributed dividends in the amount of €32.2 million reflecting 10.0 
euro cents per share. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 12: EARNINGS PER-SHARE  

 
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data: 
 

 Year ended 31 December 

 2023 2022  
Euro in thousands 

Earnings   
Earnings (loss) for the purposes of basic earnings per share being 

net profit attributable to owners of the Company (42,390)  80,100  

 

 Year ended 31 December  

 2023 2022 

 In thousands 
   

Number of shares   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of 

the basic earnings per share 321,717   321,722  

 
 

Earnings (loss) Per Share: Year ended 31 December  

 2023 2022 

   

Basic (Euro per share) (0.132) 0.249 

Diluted (Euro per share) (0.132) 0.249 

 

There is no difference in the current year or the previous year between basic and diluted earnings per 
share. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 13: BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 
 Amounts owed by related parties Amounts owed to related parties 

 31 December  31 December  

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

 Euro in thousands Euro in thousands 

     
Related parties  11,005  24,531  1,623   2,619  

     
As of 31 December 2023, Summit Real Estate Holdings Ltd ("SHL") holds approximately 99.15% of the 
Ordinary shares of Summit Properties limited. SHL is under the control of Mr. Zohar Levy. Summit 
Management CO S.A. ("SMC"), a company controlled by Zohar Levy, was appointed as an Asset 
Manager on 19 May 2006.  
 
The balance owed to related parties includes provisions for management fees to SMC and for 
performance‐based compensation of €741 thousand (2022: €1,456 thousand). 
 
The balance owed by related party as of 31 December 2023 comprised of a loan to SHL. The loan 
bears an annual interest rate of 3-month Libor plus a margin of 1%. As at the date of approval of 
these financial statements the total amount owned from SHL is €11 million, including €3,263 
thousand of interest income that was recongnised during the Reporting Period and is included in the 
Financial Income of the Company’s Profit and Loss account. 
 
A.  Compensation of key management personnel: 

 
  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 

     
Directors’ fees   290    535  
Management fees   1,510    1,510  
Special Bonus (note 13B)  -   3,223  
Total compensation paid to key management personnel  1,800    5,268  

     
 

B.  Terms and conditions of the management agreement 
 
According to the management agreement, SMC is responsible for providing certain corporate 
and advisory services to the Group and is entitled to an advisory fee equal to €750,000 per 
annum, payable quarterly, plus the potential to receive a performance-based bonus of up to 
€750,000 per annum, depending on certain performance criteria. 
 
The performance‐based bonus is based on hurdles and is calculated based on the aggregate 
return to the shareholders of the Company at the end of each accounting year, whether as a 
result of dividends received and/or an increase in the net asset value of the Group (excluding 
any increase due to revaluations) (the “Return”). The performance-based bonus is calculated on 
a pro‐rata basis for any increase in the Return up to and including 5.5%. 
 
The annual performance-based bonus entitlement of SMC is capped at a maximum of €750,000 
per annum. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 13: BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (Cont.) 

 
B.  Terms and conditions of the management agreement (Cont.): 

 
In addition to the performance-based bonus detailed above, SMC shall be entitled to receive a 
“Special Bonus” if, at any time in the period commencing on 1 January 2017 and ending on the 
date falling three years thereafter (i.e. 1 January 2020), there is a qualifying sale or series of sales 
of any properties of the Group.  A qualifying sale or series of sales is one, which alone or in 
aggregate, results in the proceeds received by the Summit Group, (net of any costs and expenses 
incurred in connection with the relevant sale(s)) and less the value (as stated in the Group’s 
valuation as at 30 June 2016) of the properties sold, being greater than €50 million (the whole 
of such amount being the “Qualifying Amount”). The Special Bonus shall be an amount equal to 
five per cent of the Qualifying Amount and is subject to a total aggregate cap of €10 million over 
the three-year term.   
In addition, in the first accounting year in which a Special Bonus is payable, any bonus payable 
in that same year shall be deducted from the amount of the Special Bonus so payable. 
 
By the end of 2019, it was decided to extend the management agreement with SMC until 31 
December 2022. As part of the amendment to the management agreement, it was clarified that 
the right of the management company to the Special Bonus will remain in effect, provided that 
the profit from a qualifying sale or series of sales of any properties that will occur during the 
extension period will be calculated in relation to the value of the company's properties as of 30 
June 2019. It was further clarified that the Special Bonus would also apply in relation to a partial 
sale of properties that would meet the profitability conditions described above.  
In addition, by the end of 2019, it was agreed that half of the Special Bonus that accrued until 
the end of 2019 (including the performance‐based bonus), in the amount of €3.5 million, will be 
paid in 2021, subject to a pre-tax profit of the Group for 2020 not to be less than €70 million. 
The amount was paid during the reporting period. 
 
As at 31 December 2022 the criteria for the performance-based bonus and the criteria for the 
Special Bonus were met and provisions in the amount of €750,000 and €3.2 million, respectively, 
were made during the period. The bonuses are subject to the approval of the board of directors 
of the Company after the end of the accounting year. Consequently, in 2023 the above was 
approved by the board.  
As at 31 December 2023 the criteria for the performance-based bonus was met and a provision 
in the amount of €750,000, was made during the period. 
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SUMMIT PROPERTIES LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 13: BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (Cont.) 

 
B.  Terms and conditions of the management agreement (Cont.): 

 
In January 2023, the management agreement with SMC was extended for further three years 
until 31 December 2025. As part of the extension, the Special Bonus remained in effect provided 
that the profit from qualifying sales will be calculated in relation to the IFRS value of the 
Company’s properties as of 30 September 2022.  
 
Any Bonus which SMC is entitled to receive in any relevant accounting year shall be reduced by 
an amount equal to any carried interest amount paid to SMC pursuant to the articles of 
incorporation of Summit Finance Ltd ("SFL") in respect of the same accounting year, provided 
that any bonus shall not be reduced to less than zero. 
 
The articles of association of SFL (“SFL Articles”) contain certain provisions which relate to SMC’s 
carried interest entitlement in respect of their services provided under the initial Portfolio 
Management Agreement from 2006.  SMC holds special B shares in SFL, a Group subsidiary, 
which will give it the right to receive a carried interest if the Company distributes a cash return 
on shareholders’ equity of at least 8% in any financial year ("the Hurdle").   
SMC will be entitled to receive 25% of the cash return in that year in excess of the Hurdle after 
deducting the carried interest entitlement. If the Company has not achieved a cash return on 
shareholders' equity of at least 8% in any previous year ("a Shortfall"), the carried interest will 
not be paid until the Shortfall has been made up. Where such fees arise, they are charged to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. No amounts were ever due in respect of the 
aforementioned. As of 31 December 2023, the Shortfall is approximately €124.0 million (2022: 
€137.2 million). Therefore, the likelihood that SMC would be entitled to receive any carried 
interest is low.  
SFL articles were amended so SMC’s entitlement to receive any carried interest payable is by 
virtue of its ownership of B shares in SFL. The SFL Articles and the amended Portfolio 
Management Agreement provide that the B shares may be held by whoever is the appointed 
asset manager under the Portfolio Management Agreement or any other asset or portfolio 
management agreement to which the Group is a party from time to time. 

 
 
NOTE 14: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 
     
Accrued expenses   6,433   7,922 
Accrued interest   3,336   3,789 
Provisions (a)  9,340   18,010 
Trade accounts payable  4,477   7,892 

Other  7,451   9,913 

  31,037   47,526 

 
(a) Including provision for bonuses as described in Note 13B.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023 
 
NOTE 15: GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

  
Year ended  

31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 
     
Management and directors' fees (a)  1,800   2,045  
Professional fees (b)  1,852   1,836  
Salaries   3,093   3,560  
Administration fees  70   117  
Office expenses   341   279  
Other expenses  955   994  

  8,111   8,830  

     
(a) See note 13 for details of the management agreement. 
(b) Professional fees include closing and audit fees in the amount of €227 thousand (2022: €194 

thousand).  
 
NOTE 16: FINANCIAL EXPENSES (INCOME) 
 

  
Year ended  

31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 

Financial expenses:     
Interest on borrowings  30,527  23,800  
Amortisation of cost of raising loans   3,116  2,387  
Other   2,955  3,150  

Total financial expenses  36,599  29,337  

     
Financial income:     

Total financial income  11,600   11,454  

 

 

NOTE 17: TAXATION 
 

A) Taxes on income recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: 
 

  
Year ended  

31 December  

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 
Current income tax:     

Current (loss) income tax charge   (419)   1,318  
     
Deferred income (loss) tax (See C):     

Relating to origination and reversal of  
  temporary differences  (23,756)   27,036  

     
Income tax expense reported in the statement of  
  comprehensive income  (24,174)   28,354  
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NOTE 17: TAXATION (Cont.) 
 

B) The Company is subject to taxation under the laws of Guernsey. The subsidiaries are subject to 
 income taxes in their country of domicile in respect of their income. The ordinary corporate

income tax rate in Germany as of 31 December 2023 is 15.825% (31 December 2022: 15.825%). 
 The Group`s subsidiaries operating in Germany are subject to German tax which will include 

RETT on property transactions, where applicable. Certain Group subsidiaries are taxable in 
Guernsey at  0%. 

 
C) The Company operates in the United States (“U.S.”) through a U.S. resident holding company 

(hereinafter: "Holding Company"), which holds rights in real estate partnerships through 
partnerships (LLCs) that are considered as transparent for U.S. tax purposes, so the Holding 
Company is the income taxpayer produced by LLCs. 

 The Group's investments in the Holding Company and the Holding Company's investments in 
the LLC companies are done by capital investments as well as by interest-bearing inter-company 
loans. The activity in the U.S. is subject to federal, state, and local government tax (in some 
cases). The total tax rate ranges from 25% to 29%. 

 Dividend payments outside the U.S. are subject to withholding tax in the U.S. at a rate of 30%, 
in accordance with U.S. domestic law. However, when such payments are transferred to a 
German resident company that has an agreement with the U.S., the withholding tax will be at a 
rate of 5% subject to compliance with the rules of the U.S. – German Tax Treaty. Deduction of 
interest expenses in the U.S. is subject to the rules of thin financing under U.S. law. 

 

A reconciliation between the tax benefit in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and the profit before taxes multiplied by the current tax rate can be explained as follows: 

 
 Year ended  

31 December  

 2023 2022 

 Euro in thousands 
   

Profit (loss) before taxes on income (87,372) 154,141  
   

Tax at the statutory tax rate in Germany (15.825%)  (13,827) 24,393  
Increase (decrease) in respect of:   

Losses for which deferred taxes were not recorded (3,798) (11,841) 
Effect of different tax rate  (8,270) 16,871  
Non-deductible expenses, net (80) 1,000  
Difference between tax and reporting GAAP 3,623  1,731  
Other (1,822) (3,800) 

Tax expense (income) (24,174) 28,354  
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NOTE 17: TAXATION (Cont.) 
 
D) Deferred income tax: 

 Consolidated statement  
of financial position 

 2023 2022 

 Euro in thousands 

Deferred tax asset (liability)   
Revaluations of investment properties to fair value (156,096) (151,774) 
Losses carried forward 38,716  6,091  
Provisions 1,012  1,032  
Other 43  2,690  

Deferred tax liabilities, net (116,325) (141,961) 

   
The Group offsets deferred tax assets and liabilities when these are originated by the same tax 
entity. After offsetting such assets and liabilities, the net balances are: 
 
 Consolidated statement  

of financial position 

 2023 2022 

 Euro in thousands 

   
Deferred tax liability (116,325) (141,961) 

 

 Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive loss 

(income) 

 2023 2022 

 Euro in thousands 

Deferred tax expense (income)   
Revaluations of investment properties to fair value 9,587  27,213  
Losses carried forward (33,380) 222  
Other 37  (399) 

Increase (decrease) in deferred tax (23,756) 27,036  

   
 
 Other comprehensive 

income 

 2023 2022 

 Euro in thousands 

Deferred tax income   
Revaluations of foreign currency translation reserve  (1,886) 1,360  
Revaluations of financial instruments -  -  
   

Increase in deferred tax (1,886) 1,360  
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NOTE 17: TAXATION (Cont.) 

 
E) Group's carried forward tax losses in Germany for which deferred taxes were not recognised are 

approximately €25 million (2022: €25 million). Deferred tax assets on loss carry forward are 
recognised by the Group according to the applicable tax laws, to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised.   

 
F)  Tax liability for the purchase of a real estate property in Germany: 
 The purchase of a real estate property in Germany is subject to Real Estate Transfer Tax (RETT), 

usually at a rate of 5.5% to 6.5% of the purchase price. Under German law, the tax burden is 
imposed on both seller and buyer. The transfer of control of 90% or more of the rights owned 
by a German entity to third parties within a period of 10 years will be subject to RETT. 

 
NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The Group's principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise mainly bank loans, and trade 
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group's operations. 
The Company has various financial assets such as trade receivables, loans to third parties and cash and 
cash equivalents. 
The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk as summarised below. 

 
Market risk: 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market prices comprise two types of risks that are relevant to 
the Company:  Interest rate risk and Price risk. 
 

• Interest rate risk: 
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the 
Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 
The Group's policy is to fix the interest rate of its bank loans by entering into fixed interest rate 
loan agreements and/or by entering into interest rate swaps, in which the Group agrees to 
exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts 
calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. At 31 December 2023, the 
majority of the Group's borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. 
 

• Price risk: 
The Group's financial instruments measured at FVTOCI are susceptible to price risk arising from 
uncertainties about future values of the investment in those instruments. The Group manages 
the equity price risk through diversification and placing limits on individual and total equity 
instruments. The Company's senior management monitors value and extent of such investments 
on an ongoing basis.  
As of 31 December 2023, the Group does not hold any marketable securities and does not hold 
significant financial instruments measured at FVTOCI (see note 6).  
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

 

• Credit risk: 
 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations, as reflected as of the period 
end in the Group's financial statements, under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities. 
 
The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its lessees and the financial statements 
include specific allowances for doubtful accounts, which, in management's estimate, adequately 
reflect the underlying loss of debts whose collection is doubtful. 
 
The Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group 
of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having 
similar characteristics if they are related entities. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recognised in financial statements net of impairment 
losses represents Group's maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking into account 
collateral or other credit enhancements held. 
 
Collateral and other credit enhancements are obtained in most cases, pursuant to management 
assessment of the client's credit quality and an assignment of its credit limits. The Group does 
not invest its cash with banks that have a low credit rating. As such, the group does not have 
significant credit risk exposure. 
 

• Foreign currency risk: 
 
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of the US Dollar. The foreign currency risk arises 
from recognized assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency other than the 
Company's operating currency. 

 
Liquidity risk: 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted payments. 
 

  As at 31 December 2023 

  
Up to 1 

year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years > 4 years Total 
  Euro in thousands 
        
Interest bearing loans and 

borrowings  51,882 270,012 35,868 31,841 548,158 937,761 
Trade and other payables   21,695 2,675    24,370 

Tenants Security Deposit   5,922    5,922 

Other liabilities  258 147 151 155 1,334 2,045 
Payables to related parties 

and shareholders  1,623     1,623 

  75,458 278,756 36,019 31,996 549,492 971,721 
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 
 

Liquidity risk: (Cont.) 
  As at 31 December 2022 

  
Up to 1 

year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years > 4 years Total 
  Euro in thousands 
        
Interest bearing loans and 

borrowings  43,862  54,096  378,077  72,705  337,611  886,350  
Trade and other payables   29,514  -  -  -  -  29,514  

Tenants Security Deposit  -  7,049  -  -  -  7,049  

Other liabilities  191  192  196  201  1,701  2,481  
Payables to related parties 

and shareholders  2,619  -  -  -  -  2,619  

  76,186  61,337  378,273  72,906  72,906  928,014  

 
Capital management: 
 
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit 
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.  
The Group manages its capital structure and adjusts it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.  
 
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 
2023 and 31 December 2022. 
 
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 were as follows: 
 

  2023  2022 

  Euro in thousands 
     

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings  700,781     752,319  
Current loans and borrowings   22,589     8,677  
Less cash and cash equivalents  (268,665)  (278,759) 
     

Net debt  454,705    482,237  
     

Equity  1,048,093    1,171,697  
     

Total capital  1,502,798    1,653,933  
     

Gearing ratio  30%  29% 
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

 
Fair value of financial instruments and non-financial instruments: 
 

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost: 

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised 
at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. 
 
As at 31 December 2023 there are no financial instruments of interest – bearing loans and borrowings 
(31 December 2022: none.) 
 
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position: 

The financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped 
into Levels 2 and 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. 
 

 31 December 2023 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 Euro in thousands 

Non - Financial assets:     
Investment properties (note 5) -  -  1,570,122  1,570,122  
Financial assets     
Financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit and loss (a) -  -  9,072  9,072  
Financial assets at FVTOCI (b) -  -  2,100  2,100  

Total -  -  1,581,294  1,581,294  

 

 31 December 2022 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 Euro in thousands 

Non - Financial assets:     
Investment properties (note 5) -  -  1,759,847  1,759,847  

Financial assets     
Financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit and loss (a) -  -  9,846  9,846  
Financial assets at FVTOCI (b) -  -  3,495  3,495  

Total -  -  1,773,188  1,773,188  

 

 
(a) See note 6(3). Following the adoption of IFRS9 at the beginning of 2018, the Company measures 

loans given to finance certain residential construction projects in Berlin at fair value through 
profit and loss. 

(b) See note 6(1). 
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NOTE 19: CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising financing activities including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, 
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated cash flow statements as cash flows 
from financing activities. 
 

 
1 January 2023 

Financing 
cash flows 

Acquisition of 
subsidiary 

Fair value 
adjustments 

Other 
changes 

31 December 
2023 

       
Interest-bearing loans and 
  borrowings  760,995  32,266 18,125 - (88,016) 723,370 

 
 

1 January 2022 
Financing 
cash flows 

Acquisition of 
subsidiary 

Fair value 
adjustments 

Other 
changes 

31 December 
2022 

       
Interest-bearing loans and 
  borrowings  589,569  32,173  487,936  -  (348,682)  760,995  

 
 
NOTE 20: OPERATING LEASE 

 
Operating Lease– Group as Lessor 
 
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio  . 
These non-cancellable leases have remaining average terms of between 1 and 19 years (the average 
non-cancellable lease length is approximately 4.7 years in Germany, 1.7 in the US) . 
The majority of the leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual 
basis according to the price index or a fixed increase rate. 
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NOTE 20: OPERATING LEASE (Cont.) 

 
 
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 
 
Germany: 
 

 
 For the year ended 31 

December 

  2023 2022 

  Euro in thousands 

    
Within one year  21,792  21,381 
After one year but not more than five years  58,745  57,421 
More than five years but not more than ten years  23,065  26,059 
More than ten years but not more than fifteen years  1,958  3,494 
More than fifteen years  1,815  1,665 

 
 

 107,375  110,021 

US: 
 

 
 For the year ended 31 

December 

  2023 2022 

  Euro in thousands 

    
Within one year  131,852  139,989  
After one year but not more than five years  146,139  168,318  
More than five years but not more than ten years  1,680  -  
More than ten years but not more than fifteen years  -  -  
More than fifteen years  -  -  

 
 

 279,671  308,307  

 
 
NOTE 21: INVENTORY OF BULDINGS UNDER CONSTRUCTION  
 
 During 2022 a subsidiary of the Company began construction of 68 residential units on its existing 

property located in Frankfurt. Most of the units in development are part of a new building that will be 
constructed. The remaining units will result from the conversion of currently vacant office spaces, with 
no major impact on the current rent expected from the construction process. As at 31 December 2022, 
the total of investments of €20.7 million included under properties for development comprised mainly 
of the project described above. As at 31 December 2023, the total project investment of €25.6 million 
was allocated to Inventory of buildings under construction under current assets. 
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NOTE 22:   OPERATING SEGMENTS: 
 

A. General 
 

Information reported to management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment 
of segment performance is focused on the category of customer for each type of activity. The 
Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are therefore as follows: 
 
Segment A - investment properties - Leasing property for rental income in Germany. 
Segment B - commercial investment properties - Leasing property for rental income in the US 
(see Note 3B). 
Segment C - residential investment properties - Leasing property for rental income in the US (see 
Note 3B). 
Segment D – hotels investment properties- Leasing property for rental income in the US (see 
Note 3B). 
Segment E - Other. 

 
The segment's assets include all of the operating assets used by the segment. 
The segment's assets and liabilities do not include deferred taxes. 

 
B. Analysis of income and results by operating segments: 

 

Segment income and expenses include income and expenses arising from the operating 
activities of the segments that are directly attributable to business segments. 

 
Year ended 31 December 2023: 

 

Investment 
Properties - 

Germany 

Commercial 
investment 
properties - 

USA 

Residential 
investment 
properties - 

USA 

Hotels 
investment 
properties - 

USA Other Total 

  Euro in thousands 
       
Income 22,609  91,045  48,567  23,513 5,161  190,895  
       
Segment profit (loss) (*) (71,621) 7,029  972  - 1,247  (62,373) 
Expenses not allocated to the 
  segment    

 
 - 

Operating loss      (62,373) 

       
Finance expenses, net 1,800  (16,236) (10,563) - -  (24,999) 
       
Profit (loss) before taxes on 
income (69,821) (9,207) (9,591) - 1,247  (87,372) 

       
(*) Includes revaluation gain of  
   investment properties (83,568) (49,662) (18,680) - - (151,910) 
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NOTE 22:   OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont.): 
 

B. Analysis of income and results by operating segments (cont.): 
 
Year ended 31 December 2023: 
 

 

Investment 
Properties 
Germany 

Commercial 
investment 
properties - 

USA 

Residential 
investment 
properties - 

USA 

Hotels 
investment 
properties - 

USA Other Total 

  Euro in thousands 

       
Segment assets 744,941  631,064  517,572  28,185 9,820  1,931,582  
       
Assets not 

allocated to the 
segment 

     

-  

Total assets      1,931,582  

       
Segment liabilities 245,673  183,094  332,559  5,848 - 767,174  
       
Liabilities not 

allocated to the  
  segment 

     

116,315  

Total Liabilities      883,489  

 

 

Year ended 31 December 2022: 
 

 

Investment 
Properties - 

Germany 

Commercial 
investment 
properties - 

USA 

Residential 
investment 
properties - 

USA 

Hotels 
investment 
properties - 

USA Other Total 

  Euro in thousands 
       
Income 19,004  77,274  49,113  23,256 3,540  172,187  
       
Segment profit (loss) (*) (30,192) 167,771  33,806   637  172,022  
Expenses not allocated to 
the segment    

 
 - 

Operating profit      172,022  

       
Finance expenses, net 599 (8,128) (10,352) - -  (17,881) 
       
Profit (loss) before taxes on 
income (29,593) 159,642 23,455 - 637 154,141  

       
(*) Includes revaluation 

gain (loss) of investment 
properties  (39,142) 118,351  14,998  - - 94,207  
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NOTE 22:   OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont.): 
 

B. Analysis of income and results by operating segments (cont.): 
 
Year ended 31 December 2022: 
 

 

Investment 
Properties 
Germany 

Commercial 
investment 

properties - USA 

Residential 
investment 
properties - 

USA 

Hotels 
investment 
properties - 

USA Other Total 

  Euro in thousands 

       
Segment assets 824,179  713,046  551,726  20,628  20,701 2,134,936  
       
Assets not allocated 

to the segment 
    

 

-  

Total assets     2,134,936  

      
Segment liabilities 295,399  169,047  345,971  10,858  821,275  
      
Liabilities not 

allocated to the  
  segment 

   

 141,961  

Total Liabilities     963,236  

 
 

NOTE 23: THE COMPANY'S HOLDINGS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2023 
 

  Principal activity  
Country of 

incorporation  
Direct 

holdings % 
       

Summit Finance Limited   Intermediate holding company  Guernsey  100.00% 
Neston S.à r.l.  Intermediate holding company  Luxemburg  100.00% 
Summit Real Estate Hirundo GmbH  Real Estate company  Germany  94.80% 
Summit US Holdings GmbH*  Intermediate holding company  Germany  100.00% 
Summit Luxco s.a.r.l*  Intermediate holding company  Luxembourg  100.00% 
       

       

 
*- These entities hold holds holding companies and subsidiaries, which own real estate assets of the Group in 
Germany and the US.  
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